


Riverwalk Park & Boardwalk
Yarmouth, MA October - 2017

BOARDWALK OPTION 1

0 300 600150

6’-0” Boardwalk

6’-0” Boardwalk

Note: Alternate to Crushed Stone 

200’ Riverfront Setback

35’ Wetland Setback Salt Marsh Line
From Survey, May 2017

P
A

R
K

E

R
S

R
I

V
E
R

DRIVE-IN 
SITE

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout
of osprey nest

6’-0” Crushed 
Stone Path

6’-0” Crushed 
Stone Path

Boardwalk Length: 1,860 LF
Crushed Stone Path Length: 1,130 LF

Department of Environmental 

Boundary From GIS

VIEW
 1

VI
EW

 3



Riverwalk Park & Boardwalk
Yarmouth, MA

BOARDWALK OPTION 2

6’-0” Boardwalk

6’-0” Boardwalk

35’ Wetland Setback

Boardwalk Terminates 
at Seagull Beach

P
A

R
K

E

R
S

R
I

V
E
R

DRIVE-IN 
SITE

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout

6’-0” Crushed 
Stone Path

Lookout

6’-0” Crushed 
Stone Path

S E A G U L L  B E A C H

Note: Alternate to Crushed Stone 

Boardwalk Length: 3,750 LF
Crushed Stone Path Length: 1,250 LF

0 300 600150

200’ Riverfront Setback

Salt Marsh Line
From Survey, May 2017

Department of Environmental 

Boundary From GIS

October - 2017

of osprey nest

300’ min VIEW
 1

VI
EW

 3



Riverwalk Park & Boardwalk
Yarmouth, MA

BOARDWALK OPTION 3

S E A G U L L  B E A C H

0 300 600150

6’-0” Boardwalk

6’-0” Boardwalk

Lookout

Lookout - Osprey 
Nest Viewing

35’ Wetland Setback

Boardwalk Terminates 
at Seagull Beach

P
A

R
K

E

R
S

R
I

V
E
R

DRIVE-IN 
SITE

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout

Lookout

Boardwalk Length: 3,660 LF

200’ Riverfront Setback

Salt Marsh Line
From Survey, May 2017

Bridge

Department of Environmental 

Boundary From GIS

October - 2017

of osprey nest

VIEW
 1

VI
EW

 3



Riverwalk Park & Boardwalk - Boardwalk Visualization View 1
Yarmouth, MA October 2017

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3



Riverwalk Park & Boardwalk - Boardwalk Visualization View 2
Yarmouth, MA October 2017

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3



Riverwalk Park & Boardwalk - Boardwalk Visualization View 3
Yarmouth, MA October 2017

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3



  
MEMORANDUM 

 

BETA GROUP, INC. 
www.BETA‐Inc.com 
 

 
This memo  summarizes  our  initial  thoughts  on  the  redevelopment  of  the  former  drive‐in  parcel  and  the 
construction of a boardwalk across the abutting salt marsh to the south, connecting the Riverwalk Park site to 
Seagull Beach on Nantucket Sound.  

We have reviewed information received from the Town of Yarmouth, our field reconnaissance activities, and 
the  updated  wetland  delineation  and  topographic  survey.    We  have  attend  two  (2)  public  meetings  in 
Yarmouth (May 30 and June 7) with the Drive‐In Site Utilization Committee at which public input on concept 
plans for the Riverwalk and the Boardwalk has been obtained. A listing of the information reviewed is attached 
to this memo. 

Our  conclusion  is  that  there  are  no  significant  regulatory  or  site  constraints  that  would  preclude  the 
redevelopment of the drive‐in site as a Riverwalk Park and the construction of an elevated Boardwalk across 
the  parcel  to  the  south  of  the  drive‐in  site  to  Seagull  Beach.    The  several  issues  outlined  below  can  be 
addressed through proper site, building and structure design and evaluated in the permitting process for the 
project. 

Constraints  on  redevelopment  of  the  former  drive‐in  site  are  those  associated  with  the  presence  of 
jurisdictional (under federal, state and local  law) wetland resources, potential  impacts to navigation in the 
Parkers River and the tidal creek to Lewis Pond, the flood zone designation of the property, site access from 
Route 28 and/or abutting residential streets to the west, potential limitations on disposal of septic effluent on 
site, and the presence of mapped Priority Habitat of Rare Species and Estimated Habitat of Rare Wetlands 
Wildlife on the site. 

Jurisdictional Wetland Resources 

Almost the entire drive‐in site is mapped as jurisdictional wetland resources.  A detailed description of the 
existing wetlands on the drive‐in site are included in the Wetlands Resource Area Delineation letter report 
prepared by Wetland Strategies,  Inc. (May 23, 2017). The limits of the jurisdictional wetland resources are 
indicated on the Existing Conditions survey plan prepared by Alpha Surveying (May 16, 2017). 

The wetlands on the site are largely unchanged since the last wetlands delineation performed for the previous 
marina  project  in  2006.    One  exception  is  an  area  formerly  delineated  as  Coastal  Beach,  located  on  the 
northeastern  portion  of  the  drive  in  site  adjacent  to  the  Parkers  River.    The  recent wetlands  delineation 
completed by Wetland Strategies, Inc. has identified this as a Coastal Dune due to changes in the vegetation 
in the resource area.   

Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act (WPA) 

The drive‐in site includes the following wetland resource areas under the WPA: 

 Salt Marsh – bordering the site along the Parkers River; 

Date:  September 29, 2017  Job No.: 5562 

To:  Kathy Williams, Yarmouth Town Planner 

Cc:  Kelly Carr, Associate 

From:  Joseph Freeman, Associate 

Subject: 
Yarmouth Riverwalk Park and Boardwalk – Issues, Site Constraints and 
Environmental/Regulated Resources 



Kathy Williams, Yarmouth Town Planner 
September 29, 2017 
Page 2 of 8 
 
 

 

 Coastal Dune – northeast corner of the site immediately south of the Lobster Boat Restaurant; 

 Isolated Vegetated Wetlands – two areas, one located in the northern portion of the site immediately 
south of Route 28 and a larger area located in the southwestern portion of the site; 

 Riverfront Area – extends inland 200‐feet from the Mean High Water elevation of the Parkers River; 
and 

 Land Subject  to Coastal Storm Flowage –  includes all areas of  the site at or below the 1% Annual 
Chance (100‐year) Floodplain elevation.  

 Banks  of  or  Land  Under  the  Ocean,  Ponds,  Streams,  Rivers,  Lakes  or  Creeks  that  Underlie  an 
Anadromous/Catadromous Fish Run (Fish Run) ‐ although not identified in the wetlands delineation 
letter report the Parkers River is a Fish Run and the banks of the River lie within the boundaries of this 
resource area. 

The Boardwalk parcel  to  the south was not  surveyed and a delineation of  jurisdictional wetlands was not 
performed.    Based  on Massachusetts  Geographic  Information  Systems  (MassGIS)  mapping,  the  parcel  is 
comprised largely of Salt Marsh with an irregularly shaped area identified as “Shrub Swamp” near the northern 
boundary of the Boardwalk parcel adjacent to the Riverwalk Park parcel.  This area is likely to be Bordering 
Vegetated Wetland (BVW) under the WPA and appears to correspond to the area of densely vegetated upland 
within the larger area of salt marsh. 

Areas of the resource area Tidal Flat are mapped within Lewis Pond and adjacent to the tidal creek into the 
pond from the Parkers River.  Land below the Mean Low Water elevation in the tidal creek into the pond is 
classified as Land Under the Ocean.  

Under the WPA, a 100‐foot Buffer Zone extends upland from the  limits of the Salt Marsh, Riverfront Area 
Coastal Dune, Fish Run and Tidal Flat resource areas. 

Yarmouth Wetlands By‐Law 

The  local  by‐law  parallels  the  Massachusetts  Wetlands  Protection  Act  and  Massachusetts  Wetlands 
Regulations in large part with additional buffer zones and “no disturb” areas offset from the boundaries of 
most wetland Resource Areas.  These include 50‐foot and 35‐foot no structure zones and a 35‐foot vegetative 
buffer zone. 

Under section 1.09(4)(c)(1) of the Yarmouth Wetland Regulations, no new non‐water dependent structures 
are allowed within 50‐feet of Coastal Dunes, Salt Marshes, Vegetated Wetlands, and Rivers  (among other 
resource areas).  Under section 1.09(4)(c)(2), “minor structures” may be allowed within 50‐feet, but no closer 
than 35‐feet, to a resource area. Section 1.09(4)(c)(3) requires that a 35‐foot undisturbed vegetative buffer 
be maintained upland of Resource Areas. 

In addition to the jurisdictional wetland resources listed above, the following additional resource areas are 
protected under the Yarmouth Wetlands Bylaw and the Yarmouth Wetlands Regulations. 

 Land Within 300‐feet of a Major Estuary (includes the Parkers River) – this Resource Area is protected 
under the Performance Standards for Land Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage contained at section 
2.10(3) of the Yarmouth Wetlands Regulations. 

Wetland constraints 

In our opinion, the key wetland constraints on redevelopment of the drive‐in site for the Riverwalk Park are 
associated with the Riverfront Area performance standards and the restrictions on location of buildings and 
structures imposed by the By‐Law buffer zone requirements.  For the construction of the Boardwalk, the key 



Kathy Williams, Yarmouth Town Planner 
September 29, 2017 
Page 3 of 8 
 
 

 

issue  is  the  potential  impact  of  shading  from  the  Boardwalk  structure  on  the  salt marsh  vegetation  and 
immediately adjacent to the structure. 

  Riverfront Area 

Ordinarily,  the  Riverfront  Area  performance  standards  at  310  CMR  10.58(4)(d)  include  prohibitions  on 
alteration of more than 10% of the total Riverfront Area on the lot and require that a 100‐foot wide area of 
undisturbed vegetation from the river bank is preserved; that stormwater is managed in accordance with the 
Stormwater Performance Standards (although structural stormwater management measures are allowed if 
there is not practicable alternative location); the wildlife habitat capacity of the Riverfront Area is preserved; 
and groundwater or surface water quality is not impaired.  A wildlife habitat evaluation in accordance with 
the requirements at 310 CMR 10.60 may be required by the Conservation Commission.  

The concept plans for the Riverwalk Park largely respect the 100‐foot undisturbed vegetative buffer with the 
exception of portions of walking trails and the construction of  the access to the canoe/kayak dock on the 
Parkers River.  In our experience, activities such as public access to the riverfront are generally allowed by a 
Conservation Commission as long as they fall within the 10% alteration threshold specified in the regulations 
and there is no alternative location outside of the Riverfront Area.   

A more likely alternative approach under the Riverfront Area performance standards involves redevelopment 
of  “previously  developed”  sites.    Under  this  alternative  approach  we  would  clarify  which  areas  on  the 
Riverwalk parcel are disturbed and previously developed in consultation with the Conservation Commission.  
Clearly much of the site has been extensively altered from its natural state by the past use as a drive‐in theater 
and the site could be considered as a “Previously Developed Riverfront Area” under the provisions of 310 CMR 
10.58(5).  The Conservation Commission “…may allow work to redevelop a previously developed riverfront 
area, provided the proposed work improves existing conditions.” (emphasis added)  Under this section of the 
performance standards, alteration of  the undeveloped portions of  the Riverfront Area on the drive‐in site 
would be limited to the 10% standard while work within the degraded (previously developed) areas would be 
allowed beyond the 10% limitation as long as it improves existing conditions. 

It is clear that there are opportunities to provide substantial areas of restoration within the Riverfront Area 
on the site by providing areas of native plantings within the park design.  Structural stormwater management 
measures  can  likely  be  accommodated  outside  the  Riverfront  Area  and  there  will  be  opportunity  to 
incorporate “green design” and Low Impact Design stormwater management measures such as permeable 
pavement, vegetated swales and vegetated buffers into the park design which would improve the existing 
conditions on the site. 

  Salt Marsh 

The usual standard for construction in or within 100 feet of a Salt Marsh is that the activity shall not destroy 
any portion of  the marsh or have an adverse effect on  the productivity of  the  salt marsh.   However,  the 
construction of the Boardwalk through the Salt Marsh is an allowable activity under both the Massachusetts 
Wetlands Regulations (310 CMR 10.32(4) and Yarmouth Wetlands Protection Regulations (section 2.06(3)(b)) 
as  long as there are no adverse effects other than “blocking sunlight from the underlying vegetation for a 
portion of each day.”   

As noted below, the Army Corps of Engineers permit requirements require that structures located in or over 
tidal waters be constructed with a 1:1 height to width ratio.  There is no current height to width ratio standard 
in the Massachusetts Wetlands Regulations or the Yarmouth Wetlands Protection Regulations which impose 
a similar requirement.  A recent study on the shading impacts of small docks and piers on salt marsh vegetation 



Kathy Williams, Yarmouth Town Planner 
September 29, 2017 
Page 4 of 8 
 
 

 

completed by  the Massachusetts Division of Marine Fisheries Massachusetts Bay Program1 monitored  the 
shading  impacts  on  salt marsh  vegetation  of  structures  at  various  heights  and  found  that  the  structures 
constructed in compliance with the 1:1 ratio standard and with a deck spacing of ¾” resulted in “no detectable 
signs of reduced aboveground production (biomass) relative to unshaded areas.” Structures monitored were 
on a north‐south orientation  (which would be  the  general  orientation of  the proposed Boardwalk) which 
maximized  sunlight  penetration  under  the  structures.  Division  of Marine  Fisheries  environmental  review 
program  staff  have  recently  been  commenting  on  permit  applications  for  structures  over  salt marsh  and 
requesting that the 1:1 height to width ratio requirement be included in the permits. 

We believe that the 1:1 height to width ratio requirement would be included in any Army Corps permit issued 
for  the project and  is  likely  to be a  requirement of  the wetlands Order of Conditions  to be  issued by  the 
Yarmouth Conservation Commission. 

The Corps’ General Permits for Massachusetts  (March 2015) requires that structures such as the proposed 
boardwalk  which  span  more  than  100  feet  over  salt  marsh  are  not  eligible  for  authorization  as  a  Self‐
Verification activity under General Permit 3 (Pile Supported Structures, Floats and Lifts). The Corps requires a 
1:1 height to width ratio for such structures over tidal waters (footnote 9, page 8).     

Navigation Issues 

During  the  two  public meetings,  Yarmouth  residents  and  nearby  abutters  raised  the  issue  of  impacts  to 
existing navigation within the Parkers River that may result from the addition of a public kayak/canoe launch 
associated with the Riverwalk Park.  The river is relatively narrow at this point and the speakers repeatedly 
raised the issue of interference from the kayak/canoe launch, particularly during low tide. 

Impacts  on  navigation  in  the  Parkers  River  and  the  tidal  creek  to  Lewis  Pond  will  be  evaluated  under 
Massachusetts  General  Laws,  Chapter  91,  the  Public  Waterways  Act  (Chapter  91),  the  Massachusetts 
Waterways Regulations (310 CMR 9.00) and the Army Corps of Engineers permit program. 

Under the Army Corps permit program piers, docks and similar structures are not allowed to encroach on 
federal navigation projects (navigation channels) or extend beyond designated harbor lines.  The Parkers River 
is not a federal navigation project and there are no designated federal harbor lines in the river.   

The Corps has published guidelines  for placement of  structures  in navigable waters.2  In  relevant part,  the 
guidelines  require  that  structures  in  “linear  waterways”  a  “reasonable  use  of  public  water  should  be 
maintained” and those structures should not extend “more than 25% of the waterway width at mean low 
water.” 

Under  Chapter  91,  navigation  issues  are  addressed  through  the  licensing  process  and  standards  are 
established within the Waterways Regulations at 310 CMR 9.35: Standards to Preserve Water‐Related Public 
Rights.  Under the regulations, a project may not “significantly interfere with public rights of navigation.” DEP 
will not issue a license for any project which: extends beyond any state harbor line; which extends into or 
beyond any existing channel such as to impede free passage; impairs any line of sight required for navigation; 
requires alteration of established course for vessels; extends beyond the  length necessary to achieve safe 
berthing;  would  generate  water‐borne  traffic  that  would  “substantially  interfere  with  other  water‐borne 

                                                            

1 Massachusetts Bays Program, Draft Final Report, “Shading Impacts of Small Docks and Piers on Salt Marsh Vegetation 
in Massachusetts Estuaries,” January 2014 
2 Guidelines for the placement of fixed and floating structures in navigable waters of the United States by the Regulatory 
Program of the New England District, Army Corps of Engineers, July 1996 



Kathy Williams, Yarmouth Town Planner 
September 29, 2017 
Page 5 of 8 
 
 

 

traffic  in  the area at present, or  in  the  future;” or  impair  the ability of  the public  to pass  freely upon  the 
waterways. 

There are no state navigation channels in the Parkers River and there are no designated state harbor lines in 
the  river.    In  our  opinion,  the publicly  perceived  constraint  in  the width of  the  river  at  low  tide which  is 
available  for  safe  navigation  of  all  vessels will  be  a  key  issue  in  the  Chapter  91  licensing  process  for  the 
Riverwalk Park.  The opinion of the Yarmouth Harbormaster and the Department of Natural Resources will be 
important in demonstrating to DEP the likely implications of a kayak/canoe launch with respect to navigation 
in the Parkers River.   

Another navigation issue is the construction of the boardwalk across the tidal creek to Lewis Pond and the 
height of that structure above the Mean High Water elevation.  Our understanding is that navigation in the 
tidal creek between the pond and the river is limited by the shallow depths and that small craft are the only 
vessels that routinely navigate the tidal creek, particularly at higher tidal conditions.  A single dock is located 
on the western shore of the pond at the end of Lacker Road.  In our opinion, DEP would likely defer to the 
opinion of the harbormaster as to the controlling height of the vessels which navigate the tidal creek and 
would require that the height of the structure to accommodate that height.  We believe that the Army Corps 
of Engineers would defer to the requirements imposed in the state permitting process as there is no federal 
navigation project  in the tidal creek.   We do not foresee any significant  issue  in permitting the boardwalk 
crossing of the tidal creek as long as the structure does not interfere with existing navigation. 

Flood Zone – FEMA Special Flood Hazard Areas 

The entire Riverwalk Park and Boardwalk sites are located within the 1% Annual Chance (100‐year) Floodplain 
as mapped by the latest Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Map3 for the 
area.    The  drive‐in  site  is  located within  an  AE  Zone with  a  Base  Flood  Elevation  (BFE)  of  13  feet,  North 
American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD88).  The Boardwalk parcel is located within an AE Zone with a BFE of 
12 feet NAVD88.   AE Zones are described by FEMA as areas where the flood elevation includes wave heights 
of less than 3 feet. Both the Riverwalk Park and Boardwalk parcels are mapped as within an area known as 
the Limit of Moderate Wave Action (LiMWA).  According to FEMA the inland limit of the LiMWA zone is where 
1.5 foot or greater breaking waves may be expected during the 1% Annual Chance flood event. 

In addition, the majority of the Boardwalk parcel is located within a mapped Coastal Barrier Resource System 
area.  Within these areas flood insurance for new structures is not available. 

Construction of new buildings within the flood plain are controlled by the requirements of the Massachusetts 
Building Code, particularly 780 CMR 120.G.501 (Flood Hazard Zones).  All new buildings constructed on the 
site must be elevated such that the “lowest floor is located at or above” the BFE. Any enclosed building spaces 
below  the BFE cannot be used  for human habitation and must be designed  to equalize automatically  the 
hydrostatic  forces  of  flood  events  by  allowing  for  the  entry  and  exit  of  floodwaters.    Structures must  be 
designed such that they are anchored to resist flotation, collapse or lateral movement during flooding. 

Implications for development of the Riverfront Park and Boardwalk are limited with respect to the flood zone 
designations.  Any building structures can be designed to meet the requirements of the Building Code with 
respect  to  elevation  above  the  BFE  although  these  structures  would  be  noticeably  elevated  above  the 

                                                            

3 Flood Insurance Rate Map panel 25001C0588J, July 16, 2014 
 
 



Kathy Williams, Yarmouth Town Planner 
September 29, 2017 
Page 6 of 8 
 
 

 

surrounding ground, site elevations range from 4 feet to 9 feet over much of the developable portion of the 
Riverwalk  Park  site.  The  concept  plans  for  the  Riverwalk  Park  include  only  limited  structures  including  a 
welcome center, public toilets and potential artist shanties. 

The Riverwalk Park concept plans envision composting toilets as an option for the public toilets on the site.  
The composting toilets are an accepted method and have recently been installed in several coastal waterfront 
public parks in New England including Cranes Beach in Salisbury, Horseneck Beach in Dartmouth, Misquamicut 
Beach in Westerly, RI and Spectacle Island in Boston Harbor.4  

Use of the composting toilets would minimize water use on the site, eliminate additional nitrogen loading into 
the groundwater at the site, and provide grey water for irrigation of park plantings. 

Site Access 

The issues associated with site access are related to the location along heavily travelled Route 28, the limited 
frontage, and constrained right‐of‐way width along Route 28 in the area of the drive‐in parcel. 

Route 28 is maintained by the Massachusetts Department of Transportation as a principal arterial highway 
with two travel lanes and limited shoulder width.  Sidewalks are located along both sides of the roadway at 
the  site  entrance.  Access  to  the  drive‐in  parcel  will  require  an  Access  Permit  from MassDOT  under  the 
provisions of 720 CMR 13.00 (Approval of Access to State Highways).  The specific form of access permit (Minor 
or Major) is dependent on the intensity of the final Riverwalk Park concept and is tied to the transportation 
thresholds of the Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act (MEPA) Regulations at 301 CMR 11.03(6).   

Options for location of the site access drive are limited and we anticipate that MassDOT would require that 
the access drive be aligned with one of the access drives into the parking lot of Captain Parker’s Pub on the 
north side of Route 28.  The area available on the drive‐in parcel frontage will allow for the construction of a 
three lane cross section on the access drive, allowing for a separate left turn exit lane and a through/right turn 
lane.   Given  the existing heavy seasonal  traffic volumes on Route 28  this  layout would  result  in  the most 
efficient operating conditions for vehicles exiting the Riverwalk Park. 

Options for construction of a left turn “pocket” on Route 28 to accommodate vehicles turning into the park 
parcel are limited by the narrow width of the Route 28 right‐of‐way, the proximity of abutting businesses and 
existing driveways and would need to be explored in detail during final design of the Riverwalk Park and the 
MassDOT access permit process.  

 
Rare Species 
 
Areas of the site are mapped as Estimated Habitat of Rare Wetlands Wildlife (EH 756) and Priority Habitats 
of Rare Species (PH 945) on the site.  The Natural Heritage and Endangered Species Program (NHESP) 
recently revised the Estimated Habitat and Rare Species Habitat mapping (effective August 2017).  The 
boundaries of the two mapped habitat areas encompass the entire salt marsh (boardwalk) parcel, overlap 
and extend well into Nantucket Sound both east and west from the site. It is not clear whether the mapped 
habitat areas extend into the drive‐in parcel, this would need to be determined during the design phase of 

                                                            

4 http://www.clivusne.com 
 
 



Kathy Williams, Yarmouth Town Planner 
September 29, 2017 
Page 7 of 8 
 
 

 

the project and would likely be based on the presence of specific vegetation or other habitat characteristics 
specific to the species associated with the habitat. 
 
Potential impacts to the Estimated Habitat of Rare Wetlands Wildlife are addressed through the Wetlands 
Protection Act permitting process with the Conservation Commission with a copy of the Notice of Intent 
application provided to the NHEPS at the time of the filing.  Briefly, the standard is that the project not 
adversely affect the habitat and/or habitat value of the site as specified in various performance standards 
associated with particular jurisdictional wetland resource areas. 
 
Impacts to the Priority Habitat of Rare Species are addressed through a filing with the NHESP under the 
Massachusetts Endangered Species Act (MESA).  Briefly, NHESP reviews the project and determines if it 
would result in a “take” of the rare species associated with the mapped habitat area. If it is determined that 
a take would result, an additional MESA permit would be required and potential mitigation for the take 
would be negotiated with NHESP.  Typically, NHESP focuses on impacts relative to the amount of land 
clearing and changes to native vegetation in making their determination.   
 
In the case of the proposed boardwalk, the footprint of the proposed boardwalk represents an extremely 
small percentage of total size of the mapped habitat area and would be unlikely to result in a “take” of the 
rare species.  Additionally, the potential to include restoration of native vegetation in the design of the park 
could further mitigate any negligible impacts to the mapped habitat by providing additional suitable habitat 
and should be explored further in the design phase of the park.   



Kathy Williams, Yarmouth Town Planner 
September 29, 2017 
Page 8 of 8 
 
 

 

List of Material Reviewed 

1. Federal Emergency Management Agency, National Flood Insurance Program, Flood Insurance Rate 
Map panel 25001C0588J, July 16, 2014 

 

2. http://www.clivusne.com, accessed June 30, 2017 
 

3. Massachusetts Bays Program, Draft Final Report, “Shading Impacts of Small Docks and Piers on Salt 
Marsh Vegetation in Massachusetts Estuaries,” January 2014 

 

4. Massachusetts Wetlands Regulations, 310 Code of Massachusetts Regulations 10.00, October 24, 
2014 

 

5. Massachusetts Waterways Regulations, 310 Code of Massachusetts Regulations 9.00, May 23, 2014 
 

6. Massachusetts Building Code, 780 Code of Massachusetts Regulations 120.G, Flood‐Resistant 
Construction and Construction in Coastal Dunes, August 2008 

 

7. Tetra Tech, Inc., Expanded Environmental Notification Form, Parkers River Marine Park, West 
Yarmouth, Massachusetts, October 2006 

 

8. Town of Yarmouth By‐Laws, Chapter 143, Wetlands, October 14, 2016 
 

9. Town of Yarmouth, Conservation Commission, Wetland Regulations, December, 2016  
 

10. United States Army Corps of Engineers, New England Division, General Permits for Massachusetts, 
March 2015 

 

11. United States Army Corps of Engineers, New England Division, “Guidelines for the placement of fixed 
and floating structures in navigable waters of the United States by the Regulatory Program of the 
New England District,” July 1996 
 

12. http://maps.massgis.state.ma.us/map_ol/oliver.php; MassGIS Data ‐ NHESP Priority Habitats of Rare 
Species Datalayer, effective August 1, 2017, viewed 8/29/17 

 
13. http://maps.massgis.state.ma.us/map_ol/oliver.php; MassGIS Data ‐ NHESP Estimated Habitats of 

Rare Wildlife, effective August 1, 2017, viewed 8/29/17 
 

 

Ref:  O:\5500s\5562 ‐ Yarmouth Riverwalk Park\Submittals\Issues and Constraints memo ‐ revised 092917.docx 















1

Williams, Kathleen

From: Kate Feodoroff <kate@mtclawyers.com>
Sent: Thursday, October 05, 2017 11:11 AM
To: Williams, Kathleen
Cc: Greene, Karen; Knapik, Daniel; Jay Talerman
Subject: Article 97

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

Dear Kathy:

Jay had forwarded me your question whether a lease would trigger the disposition requirements for property
protected through Article 97. The answer is yes for the reasons below.

An Article 97 land disposition is defined as: a) any transfer or conveyance of ownership or other interests; b) any
change in physical or legal control; and c) any change in use, in and to Article 97 land or interests in Article 97 land
owned or held by the Commonwealth or its political subdivisions, whether by deed, easement, lease or any other
instrument effectuating such transfer, conveyance or change. A revocable permit or license is not considered a
disposition as long as no interest in real property is transferred to the permittee or licensee, and no change in
control or use that is in conflict with the controlling agency's mission, as determined by the controlling agency,
occurs thereby.

Although Mahajan v. Dept. of Envtl. Protec., 984 N.E.2d 821, 834 (Mass. 2013) deals with a license, it acknowledges
in dicta that a lease would trigger the article 97 disposition process. Further, the Land Court concurs that a lease
would trigger the disposition policy, stating: “The Lease is a disposition of municipal real estate that triggers the
requirements of G.L. c. 40, § 15A, and could potentially trigger the two thirds vote requirement of art. 97. See
Wright v. Walcott, 238 Mass. 432 438 (1921) (conveyance of lesser estate than full sale can be made by
municipality). A lease, at least one entered into by a municipality, is an encumbrance on title that involves a right,
title or interest in land sufficient to invoke the Land Court's subject matter jurisdiction. Lepore v. City of Lynn, 13
LCR 237, 239 (2005). The question of whether the Town was required to comply with the dictates of art. 97 before
it could validly enter into the Lease is one over which this court has subject matter jurisdiction.” Curley v. Town of
Billerica, 12 MISC 459001 RBF, 2013 WL 4029208, at *4 (Mass. Land Ct. Aug. 8, 2013) (negative treatment for other
reasons Nickolas v. City of Marlborough, MICV2013 05608, 2014 WL 2465281, at *5 (Mass. Super. May 9, 2014),
judgment entered, (Mass. Super. May 12, 2014).

So a lease would trigger Article 97.

I hope this helps.
Kate

 

Katherine M. Feodoroff
Mead, Talerman & Costa, LLC 
730 Main Street · Suite 1F · Millis, Massachusetts · 02054 
Phone 774.993.5002 
kate@mtclawyers.com · www.mtclawyers.com 

 
The information contained herein is confidential and may be protected by the attorney-client and/or other applicable privilege(s).  It is intended only 
for the named recipient(s).  If you are neither an intended recipient nor a person responsible for delivery to a recipient, you are hereby notified that
any unauthorized use, dissemination, distribution or reproduction of the contents hereof is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. 
 
If you have received the above transmittal in error, please delete the message and any attachment(s) hereto from your e-mail system and notify us 
immediately. 















1

Greene, Karen

From: MARK FOREST <mark.r.forest@gmail.com>
Sent: Saturday, September 30, 2017 10:40 AM
To: saben jim
Cc: Greene, Karen; Knapik, Daniel; Williams, Kathleen
Subject: Drive In- Follow Up - Additional Comments 

Mr. Saben -  
 
A few points I forgot to mention during your presentation at the Selectmen’s Meeting.   
 
1.  Funding - I talked about the Drive In project during the Selectmen Comments.  
 
 - State Recreation Funds - Town staff should help the Committee examine grant funding options for passive 
recreation through the Division of Conservation Services.   
 
- Seaport Bond Funds - Another source of funding to be examined is through the Seaport Advisory Council and 
Seaport bond funds.   
The Council is Chaired by Lt Governor Polito.  They have funded other waterfront developments, why not 
Yarmouth. 
All you should be able get from them is a determination as to eligibility.  Securing g the funds is another story.  
 
- Transportation Funds - When I worked on the federal funding for Packets Landing, we secured it from the 
federal transportation budget.   
Packets Landing’s proximity to Route 28 - made it eligible for a little known area of funding - “transportation 
enhancements”.   
I worked on programming some of these “enhancement" dollars to Yarmouth.   
 
Again, it was the proximity to a federally aided highway that helped get access to these transportation dollars.   
Sometimes the Congress authorizes states to set aside a small portion of their FHWA allocation for 
“enhancements”.   
This would would need to be examined.   
 
The town would have to make the case that it was enhancing Route 28, which I think it can.  
 
2. Legal Review — I emphasized at the meeting a need to get legal clarity on the permitted uses under MGL Ch 
40, section 8C.   
Also, the state has a new definition of passive recreation - I attached it below.   
 
We will need to examine the definition of “minimum disturbance”, especially in view of the large boardwalk 
alternative. 
It may be much more than the “minimum” level of disturbance as allowed in the regulations.   
 
3. Band Shell — One of the potential uses mentioned specifically in the 1986 Town Meeting discussion was for 
- “A cathedral style band shell”.   
This is a use that is also consistent with Mass General Law Ch 40/Section 8c.  I am interested in knowing if this 
has been examined.   
 



2

I had the occasion to talk about this with Bob Nash at the Cultural Center.  
He had recommended consideration of it-  and thought the interest would be high.  He says it could be a 
“revenue” source too.   
 
If you located a band shell on the west side of the property facing northeast, toward rte 28, you could push the 
sound in that direction, away from the neighbors.  
An orientation such as this would also enable audiences to enjoy some spectacular sunsets at that site during the 
summer.   
 
But this use, may require an area be set aside for bathrooms, and maybe a concession area, but if these were 
located in a portion of the site that 
had no environmental virtues, then you might be ok.  The regs say you can have “appropriately scaled" parking 
and bathrooms.   
 
I hope this is helpful.  Please let me know if you have any questions.   
 
 
Mark R. Forest 
mark.r.forest@comcast.net  
 
 
#### 
 
301 CMR 5.0: 
 

Any outdoor activity that occurs in a natural setting with minimum 
disturbance of the natural and cultural resources and that is consistent 
with quiet enjoyment of the land including but not limited to hiking, 
nature study, outdoor education, cross country skiing, snowshoeing, 
horseback riding, trail bicycling, hunting, fishing, picnicking, 
canoeing, ice-skating, community gardening in existing fields, swimming 
in a natural water body with minimal site development, or informal 
sports activities on an open natural field. For the purpose of 
eligibility and reimbursement under these regulations snowmobiling may 
considered passive outdoor recreations if the municipality determines 
that it is compatible with other activities. Facilities necessary to 
support passive recreation with a minimum of disturbance to the natural 
and cultural resources such as natural surface trails and wood roads, 
and appropriately-scaled parking areas, bathrooms, and nature centers 
are considered consistent with passive outdoor recreation. Passive 
outdoor recreation areas may also be managed for sustainable forestry 
and farming including community farms and forests. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 On _/_/17, on a motion by ______, seconded by ____, the committee voted  
_-_ to approve the minutes.  

 

 
Drive In Site Utilization Committee Minutes  September 18, 2017 

Page 1 of 2 

Town of Yarmouth 
 

MEETING MINUTES DRIVE-IN SITE UTILIZATION COMMITTEE MEETING OF  
September 18, 2017 

 
The Yarmouth Drive-In Site Utilization Committee (DISUC) held a Business Meeting at 3:00 p.m. 
on Monday, September 18, 2017 in the Hearing Room of the Yarmouth Town Hall Offices located 
at 1146 Route 28, South Yarmouth, MA.  
 
Committee Members Present:  Jim Saben, David Reid, Peter Slovak, Rich Bilski, Jack 
McCormack, and Tom Roche 
 
Committee Members Absent:  Gerry Manning 
 

Committee Alternates Present:   Dave Helberg 
 
Staff: Karen Greene, Director of Community Development; Kathy Williams, Town Planner;  
Kelly Grant, Conservation Administrator; Amy von Hone, Assistant Health Director. 
 

Other Attendees:  Please see the attached attendance list for members of the public who were in 
attendance.   
 
1. Minutes: 
 

a. July 31, 2017 
VOTE: On a motion by Tom Roche, seconded by David Reid, the Committee voted 6-0 to 
approve the minutes as amended.  

 
b. August 23, 2017 

VOTE: On a motion by David Reid, seconded by Tom Roche, the Committee voted 5-0-1 
(Rich Bilski abstaining) to approve the minutes as amended.  
 
2.  Preparation for Meeting with Board of Selectmen: 
 
 The Committee reviewed the draft memo to the Board of Selectmen.  BETA is currently 

working on the visualizations of the Boardwalk and cost proposals for borings.  The Riverwalk 
Park is ready for full cost estimating. 

 
 Dave Helberg asked if there wasn’t some basic cost estimate available yet.  Chairman Saben 

explained that BETA is working on it, but in the meantime the Committee’s six-month report to 
the Board of Selectmen is due.  A full presentation with cost estimates will be scheduled for a 
future date.   

 
 Larry Fennelly submitted a security report by based on his meeting with Chief Frederickson.  

His conclusion was that the Bass Hole and Meadow Brook Boardwalks are very safe.  Mr. 
Fennelly also asked that the letter from Chris Erickson, “The Way I See It,”  regarding 
environmental impacts and wildlife be included in the report to the Board of Selectmen. 

 
 A section on Interim Uses for Lot 2 will also be included.  The Committee asked staff to get 

updated quotes for Lot 2 site prep (scraping, re-loaming, and seeding) and clarification from 
Town Counsel regarding Article 97 and possible use restrictions.  Tom Roche also asked for a 
section on maintenance to be included in the report.   



 On _/_/17, on a motion by ______, seconded by ____, the committee voted  
_-_ to approve the minutes.  

 

 
Drive In Site Utilization Committee Minutes  September 18, 2017 

Page 2 of 2 

 The Committee’s presentation is scheduled for September 26th.  Mr. Helberg asked for more 
time for public input at the meeting.  Chairman Saben reminded Mr. Helberg that the DISUC 
has allowed and accepted public input, and included a section on public comments in its 
update to the Board of Selectmen.  He recommended that Mr. Helberg speak directly to the 
BOS Chair regarding how much time they will allow at their meeting.   

 
Staff will send a revised draft of the memo for the Chairman’s review prior to forwarding it to the 
Town Administrator’s office. 

 
3. Interim Uses:   
 

The Committee recalled previous one-time events on Lot 2 like the circus and speed boat 
races.  They will need clarification of  the use restrictions in order to make recommendations on 
both interim uses and long-term lease or sale. 
 

4.   Next Meeting/Meeting Schedule:   
 

a. September 26, 2017 (with Board of Selectmen) 
 

6.  Adjournment:  VOTE:  On a motion by Tom Roche, seconded by David Reid, the 
Committee voted unanimously (6-0) to adjourn at 4:05 PM.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 September 18, 2017 Agenda 
 Draft Minutes of July 31, 2017 
 Draft Minutes of August 23, 2017 
 Draft Memo and packet to Board of Selectmen   
 Center Street Report by L. Fennelly 
 Meadow Brook Report by L. Fennelly 
 L. Fennelly Comments re: R. Bilski email dated 08/23/17 


	BETA Boring Proposal Letter 20171121  2.pdf
	LTR111617 - BETA borings proposal.pdf


